NUSEED Petition (17-236-01p) for Determination of Non-regulated Status of DHA Canola

OECD Unique Identifier: NS-B5ØØ27-4

Preliminary Plant Pest Risk Assessment

May 16, 2018

Agency Contact Cindy Eck Biotechnology Regulatory Services 4700 River Road USDA, APHIS Riverdale, MD 20737 Fax: (301) 734-8669

The U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) prohibits discrimination in all its programs and activities on the basis of race, color, national origin, sex, religion, age, disability, political beliefs, sexual orientation, or marital or family status. (Not all prohibited bases apply to all programs.) Persons with disabilities who require alternative means for communication of program information (Braille, large print, audiotape, etc.) should contact USDA'S TARGET Center at (202) 720–2600 (voice and TDD).

To file a complaint of discrimination, write USDA, Director, Office of Civil Rights, Room 326–W, Whitten Building, 1400 Independence Avenue, SW, Washington, DC 20250–9410 or call (202) 720–5964 (voice and TDD). USDA is an equal opportunity provider and employer.

Mention of companies or commercial products in this report does not imply recommendation or endorsement by the U.S. Department of Agriculture over others not mentioned. USDA neither guarantees nor warrants the standard of any product mentioned. Product names are mentioned solely to report factually on available data and to provide specific information.

This publication reports research involving pesticides. All uses of pesticides must be registered by appropriate State and/or Federal agencies before they can be recommended.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

A.	Introduction
B.	Development of the DHA canola
C.	Description of inserted genetic material, its inheritance and expression, gene products, and changes to plant metabolism
D.	Potential plant pest and disease impacts 10
E.	Potential impacts on nontarget organisms beneficial to agriculture
F.	Potential for enhanced weediness of DHA canola15
G.	Potential impacts on the weediness of any other plants with which DHA canola can interbreed
H.	Potential changes to agriculture or cultivation practices
I.	Potential impacts from transfer of genetic information to organisms with which DHA canola cannot interbreed
J.	Conclusion
K.	References

A. Introduction

Nuseed Americas Inc. (hereafter referred to as Nuseed) has petitioned the Animal and Plant Health Inspection Service (APHIS) of the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) for a determination that the genetically engineered (GE) DHA canola (*Brassica napus*) event B50027-4, (hereafter referred to as DHA canola), expressing omega-3 long chain polyunsaturated fatty acids (ω 3 LC-PUFA) is unlikely to pose a plant pest risk and, therefore, should no longer be a regulated article under APHIS' 7 Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) part 340 (Introduction of Organisms and Products Altered or Produced Through Genetic Engineering Which Are Plant Pests or Which There Is Reason To Believe Are Plant Pests) (7 CFR part 340). This petition was assigned the number 17-236-01p and is hereafter referenced as Nuseed 2017. APHIS administers 7 CFR part 340 under the authority of the plant pest provisions of the Plant Protection Act (PPA) of 2000 (7 USC 7701 *et seq.*)¹. This plant pest risk assessment (PPRA) was conducted to determine if DHA canola is unlikely to pose a plant pest risk.

APHIS regulations in 7 CFR part 340 regulate the introduction (importation, interstate movement, or release into the environment) of certain GE organisms and products. A GE organism is no longer subject to the plant pest provisions of the PPA or to the regulatory requirements of 7 CFR part 340 when APHIS determines that it is unlikely to pose a plant pest risk. A GE organism is considered a regulated article under 7 CFR part 340 if the donor organism, recipient organism, or vector, or vector agent used in engineering the organism belongs to any genera or taxa designated in 7 CFR 340.2 and meets the definition of plant pest, or is an unclassified organism and/or an organism whose classification is unknown, or any product which contains such an organism, or any other organism or product altered or produced through genetic engineering which the Administrator determines is a plant pest or has reason to believe is a plant pest². DHA canola was produced by Agrobacterium tumefaciens-mediated transformation of cotyledonary petioles from germinating seedlings of canola cultivar AV Jade using the plasmid binary vector pJP3416_GA7-ModB (Nuseed 2017, pp. 23-25). Portions of the inserted genetic material were derived from plant pest organisms listed in 7 CFR 340.2 (i.e., coding sequences from Streptomyces viridochromogenes (genus is listed in 7 CFR 340.2; however the species S. viridochromogenes is not considered a plant pest), enhancer sequences from *Tobacco mosaic virus* 59; promoter sequences from Cauliflower mosaic virus, and terminator and T-DNA border sequences from A. tumefaciens) (Nuseed 2017, Table 5, pp. 27-28). Therefore, DHA canola is considered a regulated article under APHIS regulations at 7 CFR part 340. Nuseed conducted field releases of DHA canola in Australia and Canada, in part, to gather information to support that DHA canola is unlikely to pose a plant pest risk in the United States (Nuseed 2017, Table 54, page 122).

¹ Plant Protection Act in 7 USC 7702 § 403(14) defines plant pest as: "Plant Pest - The term "plant pest" means any living stage of any of the following that can directly or indirectly injure, cause damage to, or cause disease in any plant or plant product: (A) A protozoan. (B) A nonhuman animal. (C) A parasitic plant. (D) A bacterium. (E) A fungus. (F) A virus or viroid. (G) An infectious agent or other pathogen. (H) Any article similar to or allied with any of the articles specified in the preceding subparagraphs."

² Limited exclusions or exemptions apply for certain engineered microorganisms and for interstate movement of some organisms, as in 7 CFR 340.1 and 340.2.(b).

Potential impacts in this plant pest risk assessment are those that pertain to plant pest risk associated with DHA canola and its progeny and their use in the absence of confinement relative to the unmodified recipient line and/or other appropriate comparators. APHIS utilizes data and information submitted by the applicant, in addition to current literature, to determine if DHA canola is unlikely to pose a plant pest risk. APHIS regulations in 7 CFR 340.6(c) specify the information needed for consideration in a petition for nonregulated status. APHIS will assess information submitted by the applicant about DHA canola related to: plant pest risk characteristics; expression of the gene product, new enzymes, or changes to plant metabolism; disease and pest susceptibilities and indirect plant pest effects on other agricultural products; effects of the regulated article on nontarget organisms; weediness of the regulated article; impact on the weediness of any other plant with which it can interbreed; changes to agricultural or cultivation practices that may impact diseases and pests of plants; and transfer of genetic information to organisms with which it cannot interbreed.

APHIS may also consider information relevant to reviews conducted by other agencies that are part of the 'Coordinated Framework for the Regulation of Biotechnology'(51 FR 23302 1986; 57 FR 22984 1992a). Under the Coordinated Framework, the oversight of biotechnology-derived plants rests with APHIS, the Food and Drug Administration (FDA), and the Office of Pesticide Programs of the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). Depending on its characteristics, certain biotechnology-derived products are subjected to review by one or more of these agencies.

EPA regulates under the Federal Insecticide, Fungicide and Rodenticide Act (FIFRA) (7 U.S.C. 136 *et seq*) the distribution, sale, use and testing of pesticidal substances produced in plants and microbes, including those pesticides that are produced by an organism through techniques of modern biotechnology. EPA also sets tolerance limits for residues of pesticides on and in food and animal feed, or establishes an exemption from the requirement for a tolerance, under the Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act (FFDCA) (21 U.S.C. Chapter 9). Prior to registration for a new use for a new or previously registered pesticide, EPA must determine through testing that the pesticide does not cause unreasonable adverse effects on humans, the environment, and nontarget species when used in accordance with label instructions. EPA must also approve the language used on the pesticide label in accordance with Data Requirements for Pesticides (40 CFR part 158). Other applicable EPA regulations include Pesticide Registration and Classification Procedures (40 CFR part 152) and Experimental Use Permits (40 CFR part 172). No EPA reviews are relevant to DHA canola since it was not engineered to produce any plantincorporated protectants or be resistant to herbicides.

The FDA under the FFDCA is responsible for ensuring the safety and proper labeling of all plant-derived foods and feeds, including those developed through modern biotechnology. To help sponsors of foods and feeds derived from genetically engineered crops comply with their obligations, the FDA encourages them to participate in its voluntary early food safety evaluation for new non-pesticidal proteins produced by new plant varieties intended to be used as food (FDA 2006) and a more comprehensive

voluntary consultation process prior to commercial distribution of food or feed (57 FR 22984 1992b). Nuseed submitted a safety and nutritional assessment for food and feed derived from DHA canola to the FDA in March 2017.

B. Development of the DHA Canola

Canola (*Brassica spp.*) is an oil seed crop primarily cultivated in Canada, China, India, and European Union (E.U.). Worldwide production of canola is usually grouped with rapeseed production. Canada produces 20 percent of the world's canola (GE and spring). The E.U. and China are also predominant canola (winter) producing geographic areas. Canola has shown potential to be successfully grown in the United States, South American and Australia (CFIA 2012; Smith 2017).

In North America, cultivated canola can be one of three Brassica species: *B. napus*, *B. rapa* and *B. juncea*. The term 'canola' refers to cultivars of *B. napus*, *B. rapa* or *B. juncea* that meet specific standards for levels of erucic acid in the oil and levels of glucosinolates in the meal. Specifically, canola-quality cultivars must yield oil low in erucic acid (<2%) and air-dried, oil-free meal low in glucosinolates (<30µmol/g) (OECD 2011; Canola Council of Canada 2018a). Canola is primarily produced for its seeds, which contain 35-45% oil; the oil is mainly used as cooking oil. Canola meal is a by-product of oil extraction and is widely used as a high protein animal feed (Roth-Maier 2015; Yun et al. 2018).

Brassica napus is the predominant canola species grown in the United States (Brown et al. 2008). *B. napus* is of relatively recent origin resulting from the interspecific hybridization between two diploid species, *B. oleracea* and *B. rapa* (CFIA 2012; OECD 2012). There are two types of *B. napus*, the oil-yielding oleiferous rape, of which canola is a type having specific quality characteristics, and the tuber-bearing swede or rutabaga. The oleiferous type of *B. napus* can be subdivided into spring (annual) and winter (biennial) types. The primary difference is that the winter type typically requires vernalization to induce flowering and bolting. *B. napus* is also grown as a winter annual in regions where winter conditions do not result in very low temperatures, which would kill the plants (CFIA 2012).

B. napus is a cool-season crop, widely adapted in temperate climates. It is primarily self-pollinating, however outcrossing does occur, the frequency varying with the cultivar, weather and availability of insect pollinators (Oplinger et al. 1989; OGTR 2011).

Canola producers in the U.S. planted a record high 2.16 million acres in 2017. Canola production is concentrated in the Northern Plains with 80% of production in North Dakota as depicted in Table 1 and smaller amounts in Oklahoma, Montana, Washington, Kansas and Minnesota, respectively (USDA-ERS 2012; USDA-NASS 2017). Spring canola is grown mainly in the northern states, including North and South Dakota, Minnesota, Montana, Idaho, and Washington. Winter canola that requires vernalization is grown in the Pacific Northwest, the Great Plains and Midwest regions of the U.S. (Brown et al. 2008). Winter canola produced in the southeast region of the

U.S. is planted in the fall and does not require vernalization (Brown et al. 2008; Buntin et al. 2013).

State	Area planted		Area harvested	
State	2016	2017	2016	2017 1
	(1,000 acres)	(1,000 acres)	(1,000 acres)	(1,000 acres)
daho	21.0	25.0	20.5	24.3
Cansas	25.0	50.0	23.0	45.0
/innesota	29.0	30.0	27.5	28.5
Iontana	62.0	130.0	60.0	126.0
orth Dakota	1,460.0	1,700.0	1,445.0	1,690.0
klahoma	80.0	160.0	75.0	135.0
regon	4.0	6.0	3.7	5.5
Vashington	33.0	60.0	31.0	57.0
Inited States	1,714.0	2,161.0	1,685.7	2,111.3

Table 1. Acreage (USDA-NASS 2017)

Nuseed genetically engineered DHA canola line to express high concentrations of DHA (docosahexaenoic acid) in canola seed. DHA, an omega-3 long chain (>C20) polyunsaturated fatty acid (ω 3 LC-PUFA) with established health benefits, is the most important structural component of many human tissues, and crucial for brain development and function. Nuseed developed DHA canola to provide an alternative, direct source of ω 3 LC-PUFAs to meet increased human consumption and demand (Nuseed 2017, pp. 15-16).

AV Jade, broadly adapted to the Australian cropping zone as an open pollinated variety, was the recipient canola line for production of DHA canola due to its transformation efficiency (Nuseed 2017, page 20).

AV Jade canola was transformed with the plasmid binary vector pJP3416_GA7-ModB and used for the induction of embryogenesis. Cotyledonary petioles isolated from seedlings germinated from sterilized seeds were used as explants and infected with disarmed *A. tumefaciens* strain AGL1. After co-cultivation on MS media then selection media, explants were transferred to shoot initiation media and healthy shoots were transferred to rooting media. A T0 plant with positive T-DNA was selected for the DHA canola breeding process. The herbicide-tolerant selectable marker, phosphinothricin N-acetyltransferase (PAT), was used in the initial transformation and tissue culture selection process; however according to the petitioner the herbicide resistant *pat* gene is not intended to be used in the breeding process nor is it intended to be marketed in DHA canola varieties (Nuseed 2017, pp. 24-25).

DHA canola is comprised of seven trans-membrane enzyme proteins which fall into 3 functional classes; yeast acyl-CoA type fatty acid desaturases, microalgae fatty acid elongases and front-end desaturases. The inserted target genes express the seven fatty acid desaturases and elongases that convert oleic acid to DHA as depicted in the DHA biosynthesis pathway engineered into DHA canola (Nuseed 2017, Figure 1, page 21).

- Two yeast acyl-CoA type fatty acid desaturases
 - o Lackl-Δ12D from *Lachancea kluyveri*
 - Picpa-ω3D from *Pichia pastoris*
- Two microalgae fatty acid elongases
 - o Pyrco-Δ5E from *Pyramimonas cordata*
 - Pyrco-Δ6E from *Pyramimonas cordata*
- Three algae front-end desaturases
 - \circ Micpu- Δ 6D from *Micromonas pusilla*
 - o Pavsa-Δ5D from *Pavlova salina*
 - o Pavsa-Δ4D from Pavlova salina

Nuseed's DHA canola accumulates a substantially higher concentration of DHA in the seed oil compared to other conventional canola varieties. Specifically, the DHA mean for Nuseed's canola was 8.38% substantially higher than 0.24/0.11% for the parental and reference varieties, respectively (Nuseed 2017, Table 45, page 95).

Nuseed evaluated the phenotypic and agronomic performance of DHA canola by comparing it with the non-GE parental line AV Jade and at least 6 non-GE commercial varieties at ten sites in major canola growing regions of Australia and Canada (Nuseed 2017, Table 3, page 23). Nuseed also used the non-GE commercial varieties as reference lines for a detailed nutrient composition assessment. According to the petitioner, the reference lines selected represent a diverse range of natural variability of cultivars grown in Australia. Field trials included eight (8) locations in Western Victoria, Australia in 2015 and two (2) locations in Canada, one each in Alberta and Saskatchewan, in 2016. Supplemental information (Nuseed 2018) submitted by the petitioner includes one (1) agronomic evaluation in 2016 in the Imperial Valley of California and an additional three (3) evaluations in each of Canada and the U.S. in 2017.

Based on canola biology (OGTR 2011; CFIA 2012; OECD 2012) and the data presented by Nuseed (2017), APHIS concludes that DHA canola was developed in a manner common to other GE crops using *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation (USDA-APHIS-BRS 2018). APHIS believes the use of the non-GE parental line AV Jade and other reference varieties as comparators is sufficient to determine whether DHA canola does not differ from its non-GE parental line and non-GE conventional canola varieties (USDA-APHIS-BRS 2018).

C. Description of Inserted Genetic Material, Its Inheritance and Expression, Gene Products, and Changes to Plant Metabolism

To inform the potential hazards resulting from the genetic modification and potential routes of exposure related to the inserted DNA and its expression products, APHIS assessed data and information presented in the petition related to the transformation process; the source of the inserted genetic material and its function in both the donor organism and the GE crop event; and the integrity, stability and mode of inheritance of the inserted genetic material through sexual or asexual reproduction based on the location of the insertion (e.g., nucleus or organelle) and the number of loci inserted.

APHIS also assessed data presented in the petition on whether the genetic modification results in expression of new genes, proteins, or enzymes or changes in plant metabolism or composition in DHA canola relative to the nontransgenic counterpart and other canola comparator varieties. The assessment encompasses a consideration of the expressed fatty acids from seven yeast and microalgae genes, the expressed phosphinothricin N-acetyltransferase (PAT) protein encoded by *pat* gene from *S. viridochromogenes*, and any observed or anticipated effects on plant metabolism including, for example, any relevant changes in levels of metabolites, anti-nutrients, or nutrients in harvested grain or forage derived from DHA canola compared to those in the conventional counterpart and other comparators.

This information is used later in this risk assessment to inform whether there is any potential for plant pest vectors or sequences to cause disease or greater plant pest risks in the GE crop event; or for expression of inserted DNA, new proteins or enzymes, or changes in metabolism to affect plant pests or diseases, non-target beneficial organisms, weediness, agricultural practices that impact pests or diseases or their management, or plant pest risks through horizontal gene flow.

Description of the genetic modification and inheritance of inserted DNA

As described in the petition (Nuseed 2017, page 23), DHA canola was developed essentially as described in (Bhalla and Singh 2008) and (Belide et al. 2013). The pJP3416_GA7-ModB plasmid vector contained two parts: 1) seven fatty acid biosynthesis genes from yeast and microalgae and a *pat* gene as selectable marker, each incorporated into its own expression cassette that included seed-specific promoters, enhancers, and terminators, and 2) backbone sequences necessary for maintenance or selection of the plasmid vector in bacteria. Backbone sequences are not expected to be transferred to the transformed plant (Nuseed 2017, Figure 2, page 24).

The transcription of the fatty acid enzyme genes is initiated by seed-specific promoters that therefore confine the synthesis pathway to the seed. The 5' UTR leader sequence from *tobacco mosaic virus* is present in all of the fatty acid cassettes and functions to enhance the translation of the mRNA transcribed from each of the seven genes thereby enhancing expression of each protein.

The matrix attachment region from the Rb7 gene of tobacco (Hall et al. 1991; Halweg et al. 2005) was used as a spacer between two of the genes (Pavsa- Δ 5D and Lackl- Δ 12D), which enhances expression and stability, and thereby assists in maximizing production of substrates in the pathway. DHA canola (derived from the T0 generation event B0050) (Nuseed 2017, Figure 2, page 22) was ultimately chosen as the lead event based on superior agronomic, biochemical, genetic and molecular characteristics (Nuseed 2017, page 21).

Binary Plasmid Vector pJP3416_GA7-ModB

The pJP3416_GA7-ModB binary vector is approximately 31.6 kb. It contains eight gene expression cassettes which are delineated by right border (RB) and left border (LB) sequences of T-DNA, as well as backbone vector sequences outside of the two T-DNA border sequences. Table 5 in (Nuseed 2017, pp. 27-28) lists all genetic elements in the binary plasmid vector pJP3416_GA7-ModB. Genes and regulatory elements within the T-DNA regions are shown in Figure 3 (Nuseed 2017, page 24). The first seven cassettes contain the genes of interest. The eighth cassette contains the selectable marker used during the transformation process.

T-DNA cassettes

- 1. Micpu- Δ 6D cassette
 - Coding sequence of delta-6-desaturase from microalgae *M. pusilla* (Petrie et al. 2010)
- 2. Pyrco- $\Delta 5E$ cassette
 - Coding sequence of delta-5-elongase from microalgae *P. cordata* (Petrie et al. 2010)
- 3. Pavsa- Δ 5D cassette
 - Coding sequence of delta-5-desaturase from microalgae *P. salina* (Zhou et al. 2007)
- 4. Picpa- ω3D cassette
 - Coding sequence of delta-15-/omega-3-desaturase from yeast *P. pastoris* (Zhang et al. 2008)
- 5. Pavsa- Δ 4D cassette
 - Coding sequence of delta-4-desaturase from microalgae *P. salina* (Zhou et al. 2007)
- 6. Lackl- Δ 12D cassette
 - Coding sequence of delta-12-desaturase from yeast *L. kluyveri* (Petrie et al. 2012)
- 7. Pyrco- $\Delta 6E$ cassette
 - Coding sequence of delta-6-elongase from microalgae *P. cordata* (Petrie et al. 2010)
- 8. PAT cassette
 - Coding sequence of phosphinothricin N-acetyltransferase from bacterium *S. viridochromogenes* (Dröge et al. 1992)

Characteristics, Stability, and Inheritance of the Introduced DNA

DHA canola was characterized with vector-targeted sequencing, whole-genome sequencing and polymerase chain reaction (PCR)-amplicon sequencing. Nuseed reports that the DHA canola contained no vector backbone, no binary vector bacterial selectable marker gene neomycin phosphotransferase II (NPT II) nor any *A. tumefaciens* genome sequence. Sequencing also indicated that DHA canola contained two T-DNA inserts, one on chromosome A05 and the other on chromosome A02. The full genomic DNA sequences of the two T-DNA inserts were verified by Nuseed and the sequence of each

T-DNA insert perfectly matched the reference of vector pJP3416_GA7-ModB. Both T-DNA inserts were required to accumulate the desired amount of DHA in seed oil.

Expression of inserted DNA, changes in gene expression, new proteins or metabolism, and toxicity and allergenicity

Fatty Acid Biosynthesis Proteins

In DHA canola, the seven fatty acid biosynthesis proteins convert the typical fatty acids in canola seeds into the desired ω -3 LC-PUFAs. Plant oils are primarily composed of triacylglycerols that in turn comprise three fatty acid chains usually 16 or 18 carbons long (Durrett et al. 2008). The most abundant plant fatty acids are linoleic acid and α -linolenic acid, produced by desaturation of oleic acid. Some plants do produce LC-PUFAs but not at levels that are commercially viable (Abedi and Sahari 2014). In DHA canola, the genetic modification results in the favoring of the ω -3 pathway from the outset. Expression of fatty acid intermediates is maximized by the use of genes with high native expression, and enhancers (TMV 5' UTR and tobacco Rb7) to ensure the desired flux of substrates.

The seven fatty acid biosynthesis proteins are similar to other proteins in consumed food, food production, or in animal feeds. Each protein was quantified in multiple tissue types collected over a growing season. None of the proteins were detected from the non-seed tissues of DHA canola. All seven of the enzymatic proteins were detected in developing and/or mature seeds of DHA canola. Conventional canola does not express DHA, therefore the inserted DNA causes the expected changes in the fatty acid profile of DHA canola and no unintended effects.

Nuseed performed digestibility studies on each of the seven fatty acid biosynthesis proteins. Digestibility of the proteins was assessed with an *in vitro* stability assay using a standard protocol (Thomas et al. 2004), followed by LC-MS analysis. The approach to analyze digestibility in this study mimics the typical mammalian digestive system that exposes food proteins to both pepsin (stomach) and trypsin (intestine) enzymes in transit through the gut. Rapid digestion of full-length protein is one of many factors that indicate protein safety. Nuseed determined that each protein was readily digestible.

Nuseed evaluated the potential toxicity and allergenicity of DHA canola by comparing its sequence homology with known toxins and allergens, and showed that DHA and its intermediate proteins have no significant homology to known protein toxins and allergens (Nuseed 2017, Section VI, pp. 50-51). Furthermore, DHA canola comprises five fatty acid desaturases and two elongases. Each newly expressed protein is similar to proteins commonly consumed in food, food production, or in animal feeds, suggesting proteins in DHA canola have a history of prior exposure and a history of safe use (Nuseed 2017, pp. 50-51). Nuseed concludes that DHA canola lacks toxic and allergenic potential based on the broad weight of evidence.

PAT Protein

PAT protein is expressed in very low concentration in DHA canola. It was used in the initial transformation and tissue culture selection process as a selectable marker. Due to its low level of expression, DHA canola does not express herbicide tolerance under field conditions. PAT protein has been assessed by regulatory authorities around the world. Based on those studies, Nuseed concludes that PAT protein expressed in DHA canola does not have toxic or allergenic potential.

Potential new ORFs

In addition to the seven expressed proteins and PAT protein, Nuseed analyzed the potential new open reading frames (ORFs) that are likely to result from the insertion of T-DNA. Based on the bioinformatics analysis of the sequence data, Nuseed concluded that the 25 hypothetical ORFs did not match any near-full-length matches to known allergens and toxins even at E value = 0.1, although it was noted that 35% identity matches over 80 AA segments and eight-AA contiguous matches were found (FARRP 2016). It was concluded that the 25 putative polypeptides had no significant matches to, and were unlikely to contain, any cross-reactive immunoglobulin E (IgE)-binding epitopes with any proven or putative allergen and toxin proteins in the databases, even using the most stringent criteria suggested by Codex Alimentarius Commission (CODEX 2003).

The results from Nuseed studies demonstrated that the genes, gene sources and inserted DNA raise no safety concerns for DHA canola. The vector used to produce DHA canola contained expression cassettes of seven microalgae and yeast genes in the DHA biosynthetic pathway and a selection marker gene. These sources are from organisms that are commonly found in the environment and have a history of safe consumption and use in food/feed. DHA canola is a stable event as measured across seven generations of breeding by both genetic and phenotypic analysis. The analysis of potential ORFs did not reveal any similarities to known toxins or allergens.

Metabolism Composition Analysis

To assess any potential metabolite alteration as a result of the expression of the above inserted genes, Nuseed analyzed the metabolism composition of DHA canola grown at eight field sites in major canola growing regions in Australia, in comparison with the parental variety, AV Jade, and commercial reference varieties representing a range of the natural variability (Nuseed 2017 pp. 81-120). The compositional analysis included the following analytes: protein, fat, acid detergent fiber (ADF), neutral detergent fiber (NDF), crude fiber, ash, carbohydrates, FAs, AAs, vitamins, minerals, phytosterols and key anti-nutrients.

The analytes for compositional assessment were selected considering the OECD revised consensus document (OECD 2011). Among the numerous compositional analyses that were carried out, concentrations of most analytes were not significantly different between

DHA canola and control canola. Statistically significant differences were noted for concentrations of oleic and linolenic fatty acids; delta- and total tocopherols; magnesium; the glucosinolate progoitrin; and cholesterol. The magnitudes of the differences were small, however, and in every case the ranges of values were all within the respective tolerance interval established using commercial canola varieties. Overall, no consistent patterns emerged to suggest that biologically significant changes in composition or nutritive value of the seed had occurred as an unexpected result of the transformation process.

Based on the OECD guidelines for compositional equivalence, Nuseed has concluded that DHA canola was compositionally comparable to conventional canola except for the intentional production of the ω 3 fatty acids. There are no observed or anticipated unintended metabolic composition changes in the DHA canola that could impart any new plant pest or disease risk than non-GE canola varieties.

The expression of the inserted genetic material and the resulting phenotype in DHA canola are consistent with the stability/inheritance of the introduced genetic material. The ORF analysis showed no evidence of new ORFs or any unintended effects resulting from the insertion of the genetic material (Nuseed 2017). Based on the multi-location field test and evaluation of DHA canola as well as the previous citations and deregulated petitions for similar genes and gene products that have a history of safe use and have not been implicated in disease or pest issues, the gene products in DHA canola are not expected to incur any additional plant pest or increased disease risks.

D. Potential Plant Pest and Disease Impacts

APHIS assessed whether potential plant pest or disease impacts are likely to result from the transformation process, from DNA sequences from plant pests, or from any other expression products, new enzymes, proteins or changes in plant metabolism or composition in DHA canola that are known or anticipated to cause disease symptoms, or to affect plant pests or diseases or plant defense responses (as identified from the previous section). APHIS also assessed whether DHA canola is likely to have significantly increased disease and pest susceptibility based on data and observations from field trials on specific pest and disease damage or incidence and any agronomic data that might relate to such damage. Impacts or changes are assessed to determine if they would (1) affect the new GE crop and/or result in significant introduction or spread of a damaging pest or disease to other plants; (2) result in the introduction, spread, and/or creation of a new disease; and/or (3) result in a significant exacerbation of a pest or disease for which APHIS has a control program. Any increase in pest or disease susceptibility is evaluated with respect to the context of currently cultivated varieties, the ability to manage the pest or disease, and the potential impact on agriculture.

Plant Protection and Quarantine (PPQ) is an APHIS program that safeguards agriculture and natural resources from the entry, establishment, and spread of animal and plant pests and noxious weeds into the United States of America; and supports trade and exports of U.S. agricultural products. PPQ responds to many new introductions of plant pests to eradicate, suppress, or contain them through various programs in cooperation with state departments of agriculture and other government agencies. These may be emergency or longer term domestic programs that target a specific pest. A variety of insect, plant disease, mollusk, nematode or weed programs exist (USDA-APHIS 2018); however none of these programs specially target pests of DHA canola.

Canola is not a plant pest in the United States (7 CFR 340.2). The genetic modifications of DHA canola, including the genetic elements, expression of the gene products and their functions have been summarized above. *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation is the most common method for Brassica transformation. This transformation method only delivers the modified T-DNA of the plasmid, thereby eliminating the random integration of vector sequences and the analysis of the transformed DNA is more straightforward (Bhalla and Singh 2008). As previously mentioned, DHA canola was transformed by *A. tumefaciens* strain AGL1. DHA canola was propagated by seed through seven generations and *A. tumefaciens* is not transmitted via seeds between generations. Nuseed found no evidence of the presence of *A.tumefaciens* after sequencing of DHA canola. In addition, the portions of the inserted genetic material derived from plant pests, such as promoter sequence from Cauliflower mosaic virus, enhancer sequence from tobacco mosaic virus, and terminator sequence from *A. tumefaciens*, do not result in the production of infectious agents or disease symptoms in plants. Thus, it is unlikely that DHA canola could pose a plant pest risk.

Canola is grown in a wide range of soils, climates and environments representing a wide variety of plant hardiness zones. As mentioned in the petition (Nuseed 2017, page 121), many similarities exist in agronomic practices used in canola production between Australia and North America including weed, insect and disease control practices. In Australia, canola is grown across the southern dryland cropping zone with winter-dominant rainfall environments similar to the plant hardiness zone of the southern U.S. Australian production is mostly from spring canola cultivars typically sown after the first major rainfall from April to May with yield determined by water availability during the growing season and water use efficiency of the cultivar, similar to conditions in dryer regions of Canada and U.S. In North America, spring canola is also grown in western Canadian provinces including Alberta and Saskatchewan and in the Pacific Northwest and other U.S. states that border Canada with cultivation ranging from plant hardiness zones 1-2 in Canada and 3-8 in the U.S. (Nuseed 2018).

DHA canola was field tested at ten field trial locations in representative canola growing regions of Australia over three years (2014-2016) and in Canada during the summer of 2016 (Nuseed 2017, Table 64, page 132) to provide data representative of the major spring type canola growing regions in Australia and Canada. The field trials were located across varying environments for soil type and rainfall, and agronomic management practices. These regions are typical of the areas in the Pacific Northwest states in particular North Dakota where most of the U.S. canola crop is grown. In 2015, field trials were planted across eight locations in Western Victoria, Australia (6 transgenic lines and 8 cultivars). In 2016, one field trial planted in Alberta and another in Saskatchewan, Canada (2 transgenic lines and 10 cultivars) (Nuseed 2017).

Nuseed also provided supplemental information (George et al. 2015; Nuseed 2018) to support similarities between Australia and the U.S. in canola growing environments, ecotyopes, and agronomic practices. In addition to the studies presented in the petition, Nuseed conducted six more studies in 2017 in North America (Nuseed 2018).

The complex of insects that feed upon the Brassicas is one of the important factors limiting the production of commercial Brassica crops (Lamb 1989; Weiss et al. 2009). Brassicaceous plants produce a family of sulphur compounds called glucosinolates whose breakdown products are attractants and stimuli for feeding and oviposition but, on the other hand, act as deterrents or toxins for herbivores not adapted to plants of the Brassicaceae. Some of the more important insects are Flea beetles (*Phyllotreta* spp), Cabbage stem flea beetle (Psylliodies chrysocephala), Stem weevils (Ceutorhynchus spp), Aphid species (Lipaphis erysimi, Brevicoryne brassicae, Myzus persicae), Diamondback moth (*Plutella xylostella*), Cabbage white butterfly (*Pieris brassicae*), Pollen beetles (Meligethes species), Seed pod weevil (Ceuthorhynchus assimilis), and Pod midge (Dasineura brassicae). Likewise, Brassica crops are subject to a broad range of pathogens (APS 2001). Out of all the diseases affecting Brassica crops, the three most troublesome diseases are blackleg (Leptosphaeria maculans and Leptosphaeria biglobosa); Sclerotinia stem rot (Sclerotinia sclerotiorum); and clubroot (Plasmodiophora brassicae). However, blackleg disease is considered the most important disease of canola worldwide and can cause significant yield losses in susceptible varieties. Blackleg, also known as stem canker or phoma stem canker, is a disease complex attributed to two fungal species. L. biglobosa is a mild or weakly virulent species associated with upper stem lesions infecting canola late in the season. It rarely causes significant yield losses and is considered a minor problem. L. maculans is the virulent species infecting canola from the seedling stage onward. It progressively damages the crop throughout the season by girdling stems and restricting moisture and nutrient uptake, leading to significant yield loss (Ash 2010; Van De Wouw et al. 2016; Canola Council of Canada 2018b).

All locations were observed for naturally occurring disease and insect biotic stressors. The AV Jade parental control and at least six (6) reference varieties were compared to DHA canola at ten trial locations. Field observations to track the presence of insect and disease stressors and plant responses were recorded at these sites in 2015 and 2016 (Nuseed 2017) and included data from additional agronomic studies performed in Canada and the U.S. in 2017 (Nuseed 2018).

Insect pest and disease data were recorded as mild (<10% or very little disease or insect injury) or moderate (10-30% or noticeable plant tissue damage). The observations were recorded and included the following common insect pests of canola: Flea beetle (*Phyllothreta cruciferae* or *Phyllothreta striolata*), Lucerne flea (*Sminthurus viridis*), Earth mites (*Halotydus destructor* or *Penthaleus spp.*), Cabbage aphid (*Brevicoryne brassicae*), Green peach aphid (*Myzus persicae*) and Turnip aphid (*Lipaphis erysimi*). Likewise, data were also collected on the blackleg (*Leptosphaeria maculans and Leptosphaeria biglobosa*) and blackspot (*Alternarua brassicae*).

As previously mentioned, AV Jade was selected as the recipient line for DHA Canola due to its multiple characteristics including blackleg resistance. The majority of visual estimates of blackleg and blackspot were mild and insect damage observed were at very low levels across all sites. Given the lack of stem cankering and breakage, the main cause of yield loss and basis for resistance rating in Australia (Sosnowski et al. 2004), all lines used in the study can be considered resistant to blackleg disease pressure.

No statistically significant differences were observed across locations for blackleg disease incidence between DHA canola and all the comparators (AV jade, other DHA lines, and reference varieties) (Nuseed 2017, Table 66, page 133; Nuseed 2018). Most notably, DHA canola remains resistant or tolerant to blackleg disease.

Based on field observation at all sites, the introduced genes did not significantly alter any observed insect pest infestation and disease occurrence or resulting damage on DHA canola over the parental control line. There were no significant changes in DHA canola composition that would render DHA canola more susceptible to pests and diseases over its control or reference canola varieties. The observed agronomic traits also did not reveal any significant changes that would indirectly indicate that DHA canola is or could be relatively more susceptible to pests and diseases over AV Jade parental control or reference canola varieties. Thus DHA canola is unlikely to be more susceptible to plant pathogens and insect pests than conventional canola. For this reason, DHA canola is unlikely to differ from conventional canola in its ability to harbor or transmit plant pathogens or pests and cause indirect plant pest effects on other agricultural products.

E. Potential Impacts on Nontarget Organisms Beneficial to Agriculture

DHA canola is not engineered for pest resistance, thus there are no 'target' species, and thus no 'nontarget' species either. APHIS assessed whether exposure or consumption of DHA canola would have a direct or indirect adverse impact on species beneficial to agriculture. Organisms considered were representatives of the species associated with production of the regulated crop in the agricultural environment. The assessment includes an analysis of data and information on DHA canola compared to the non-GE counterpart, AV Jade, and other reference varieties for any biologically relevant changes in the phenotype or substances produced (e.g. proteins, nutrients, antinutrients, analytes, etc.) which may be novel or expressed at significantly altered amounts that are associated with impacts on organisms beneficial to agriculture, and/or any observations of beneficial organisms associated with the plants.

As previously described, the vector used to produce DHA canola converted oleic acid to DHA in canola seed, and contained seven genes obtained from microalgae and yeast, (*L. kluyveri* Δ 12-desaturase, Lackl- Δ 12D; *P. pastoris* ω 3-/ Δ 15-desaturase, Picpa- ω 3D: *M. pusilla* Δ 6-desaturase, Micpu- Δ 6D; *P. cordata* Δ 6-elongase, Pyrco- Δ 6E; *P. salina* Δ 5-desaturase, Pavsa- Δ 5D; *P. cordata* Δ 5-elongase, Pyrco- Δ 5E; *P. salina* Δ 4-desaturase Pavsa- Δ 4D). DHA canola contains two T-DNA inserts that are required to accumulate the amount of DHA in seed oil to produce the desired trait.

In addition, DHA canola contains the herbicide selection marker phosphinothricin Nacetyltransferase (PAT) gene from *Streptomyces viridochromogenes* that confers glufosinate tolerance. The glufosinate tolerance was only used as a selection marker during the transformation stage and was not used for selection during the breeding process. The PAT protein is present in many commercial biotechnology-derived crops and has an extensive history of safe use. *S. viridochromogenes* is a widespread saprophytic, soil-borne bacteria with no known safety issues (FDA 2017).

The seven trans-membrane enzyme proteins that comprise DHA canola fall into 3 functional classes:

- · Two yeast acyl-CoA type fatty acid desaturases (Lackl- Δ 12D and **Picpa-\omega3D**)
- · Two microalgae fatty acid elongases (**Pyrco-\Delta 5E** and Pyrco- $\Delta 6E$)
- · Three algae front-end desaturases (Micpu- Δ 6D, Pavsa- Δ 5D and **Pavsa-\Delta4D**)

Each protein has been fully characterized and quantitated in DHA canola tissues collected over a growing season. Nuseed provided data to show that the enzymatic proteins that produce DHA using seed-specific promoters were detected in developing seed and mature seed at low levels (20-740 ng/mg total protein), while none were detected in the non-seed tissues of DHA canola. Based on the molecular mass, Pyrco- Δ 5E was present in the lowest abundance while Pavsa- Δ 4D was the highest (Nuseed 2017, Table 37, 38, 39, pp.79-10). Furthermore, the introduced genetic material is derived from organisms commonly found in the environment with a history of safe consumption and use in the food and feed supply. Nuseed demonstrated that the genetic material used to engineer DHA canola raises no new safety concerns.

The similarities of enzymes in each functional class is reflected by a summary of each protein and its characteristics (functional activity, molecular weight (MW) theoretical isoelectric point (pI), potential glycosylation sites and representative protein used to characterize digestibility (Nuseed 2017, Table 19, page 51).

- NuSeed assessed the digestibility/stability of one representative enzyme from each functional class; Picpa-ω3D, Pyrco-Δ5E and Pavsa-Δ4D with an *in vitro* stability assay using a standard protocol (Thomas et al. 2004), followed by LC-MS analysis. The safety of the enzymatic proteins is further supported by their quick digestion by digestive enzymes pepsin and/or trypsin.
- Nuseed compared the amino acid sequences encoded by the eight genes expressed in DHA canola against the curated AllergenOnline database version 16 and the NCBI Protein database using BLASTP (FARRP 2016). None of the results carry significant risks of allergy or toxicity compared to commonly consumed proteins from a diverse variety of food sources (Nuseed 2017, pp. 49-50).).
- DHA canola has two T-DNA inserts on two of its chromosomes. Nuseed analyzed all potential ORFs at the DNA junctions due to the two T-DNA insertions. None of the results from bioinformatics searches identified significant homologies to known toxins

or allergens from the potential open reading frame (ORF) analysis of these two T-DNA inserts (Nuseed 2017).

- Nuseed conducted compositional analyses of DHA canola seed and meal in 2015 from samples taken at eight (8) field release sites in major canola growing regions of Australia. Analytes for evaluation were chosen based on the standard parameters outlined in the OECD Consensus document on compositional considerations for new varieties of low erucic acid rapeseed (canola; *Brassica napus*) (OECD 2011). None of the compositional analytes showed any biologically significant differences between DHA canola and the AV Jade parental control or commercial reference varieties, aside from the intended changes to the fatty acid pathway (e.g., high DHA).
- Pollen is the most important source of essential amino acids for honeybees, and oilseed rape pollen was shown to contain a greater proportion of the most essential amino acids required by honeybees (valine, leucine, and isoleucine) (Table 1 in Cook et al. 2003). Moreover, honeybees tend to show a preference for oilseed rape pollen (Cook et al. 2003; Keller et al. 2005). No statistically significant differences were identified for the most essential amino acids nor were any nutritional concerns raised from the slightly higher levels of alanine, aspartic acid, glycine, lysine, threonine and tyrosine present in DHA canola compared to AV Jade and commercial reference varieties (Nuseed 2017, Table 42, pp. 86-89).

Therefore, based on the above analysis on food and feed safety, including toxicity and allergenicity data, APHIS concludes that exposure to and/or consumption of the GE plant are unlikely to have any adverse impacts to organisms beneficial to agriculture.

F. Potential for Enhanced Weediness of DHA Canola

APHIS assessed whether the GE crop event is likely to become more weedy (i.e. more prevalent, competitive, damaging or difficult-to-control in situations where it is not wanted) than the nontransgenic progenitor from which it was derived, or other varieties of the crop currently under cultivation. The assessment considers the basic biology of the crop, the situations in which crop volunteers or feral populations are considered weeds, and an evaluation of the GE crop event compared to the nontrangsenic progenitor or commercial reference varieties evaluated under field (and/or lab) conditions characteristic for the regions of the U.S. where the GE crop is intended to be grown for characteristics related to establishment, competiveness, reproduction, survival, persistence and/or spread that could influence weediness and the ability to manage the crop as a weed. For this crop, such characteristics include seed dormancy and germination, vigor, rate of growth and development, flowering and yield.

Canola is a domesticated *Brassica* species. Canola is not identified as a noxious weed in the Federal Noxious Weed List nor does it appear in any state weed lists (USDA-NRCS 2012). However, canola does possess a few attributes commonly associated with weeds, such as a large seed crop and harvest yield loss (Thomas et al. 1991; Brown et al. 1995), prolonged seed dormancy of 2-5 years, and an ability to persist as feral populations in disturbed habitats (Madsen 1962; Vaughan et al. 1976; Pekrun et al. 1997; Pioneer

2011). Nuseed collected major agronomic data relevant to weedy traits including early population and seedling vigor, plant height and seed shattering, days to flowering and final seed yield, and blackleg disease incidence (Nuseed 2017, Table 55, page 103). According to Nuseed, there are many similarities in agronomic practices used in canola production between Australia, Canada and the United States (supplemental material). Six DHA-expressing transgenic lines were compared to eight Australian varieties across 10 field trial locations representing diverse regions across Australia and Canada in 2015 and 2016 where canola is commercially cultivated. 2017 data from U.S.A. In addition, Nuseed collected data from seed germination evaluations to assess different storage conditions on the physiological quality of DHA canola seeds.

Seeds from AV Jade and two segregates, one with high DHA and one with medium DHA, were collected from glasshouse grown plants at 25, 30 and 35 days after flowering. Evaluations used as indicators of seed quality and vigor included the standard germination test (SGT), accelerated aging test (ATT), the electrical conductivity (EC) test and tetrazolium chloride test-viability (Nuseed 2017, pp. 126-127). Results from the SGT at 16 and 24°C resulted in equal germination of DHA canola and AV Jade seeds (Nuseed 2017, Table 58, page 128). In addition, no significant differences were observed by visual comparison of rate of radicle emergence between all three lines (Nuseed 2017, Figure 27, page 128). However, there were significant differences (*P*>0.05) in germination percentages for high DHA canola at lower and higher (10°C and 32°C) temperatures when compared to AV Jade. Overall, DHA canola showed similar germination and vigor under the multiple parameters. Under most conditions, it is expected that DHA canola will exhibit equivalent seed viability and vigor as conventional canola.

Seed shattering or seed yield loss during harvest combined with extended seed dormancy have the potential to create volunteer and weed problems for subsequent crops. Canola is known to shatter seeds with about 2-7% of the seed yield lost during seed harvest (Gan et al. 2008). Despite significant seed loss during harvest, a majority of fallen seeds in the soil tend to germinate (> 90%) in the first season after harvest, and the remaining seeds generally exhibit 1-2 years of dormancy (Gulden et al. 2003). A few research reports also noted canola seed dormancy periods extending beyond 3 years (Légère et al. 2001; Simard et al. 2002; D'Hertefeldt et al. 2008), yet it was also observed that very few canola volunteers emerge during and after the third year of the post-harvest. Nonetheless, volunteer canola plants have still been documented at low densities four and 5 years after production (Simard et al. 2002).

Nuseed collected data on agronomic characteristics that influence reproduction, crop survival and potential weediness. Data collected were used to evaluate specific aspects of altered plant pest potential. The assessment encompassed phenotypic growth and development; germination and dormancy; plant interactions with insects, diseases and abiotic stressors; and persistence in cultivated fields or areas outside of cultivation. Statistical analysis included a restricted estimated likelihood analysis using ARSeml (Gilmour et al. 2009) procedures in GenStat (Version 17). Results from these evaluations show no meaningful differences between DHA canola, AV Jade parental control and the

commercial reference varieties for traits that could be associated with increased weed potential.

A significant body of research exists on the ability of canola to form feral populations (Simard et al. 2002; Schafer et al. 2011). Unlike highly domesticated crops such as corn and soybean, canola is a relatively newly domesticated crop plant and possesses a few traits (e.g. prolonged seed dormancy, large seed yield, seed shattering) that facilitate canola to persist as feral populations (Crawley and Brown 1995; Pessel et al. 2001). On the contrary, a mere possession of the potential weedy traits (Baker 1965) does not appear to predispose a plant taxon to become a weed (Perrins et al. 1992; Sutherland 2004).

Despite possessing some of the weed traits, canola is unlikely to become an unmanageable weed with the introduced trait. Like other crop plants, canola has several domesticated traits such as high seed output under optimum agronomic practices, selfpollination, etc., that make canola less competitive in unmanaged or minimally managed ecosystems (Crawley et al. 1993; Crawley et al. 2001). The germination data and agronomic characteristics discussed earlier in this section provide evidence that the genetic modification resulting in DHA canola did not alter any major characteristics of the plant that would allow for development of weedy characteristics different from other canola varieties.

Based on the agronomic field data and literature survey concerning weediness potential of the crop, DHA canola is unlikely to persist as a troublesome weed or to have an impact on current weed management practices. These data suggest that DHA canola is no more likely to become a weed than conventional canola varieties.

G. Potential Impacts on the Weediness of Any Other Plants with which DHA Canola Can Interbreed

Gene flow is a natural biological process with significant evolutionary importance. A number of angiosperm taxa are believed to be derived from hybridization or introgression between closely related taxa (Grant 1981; Rieseberg and Wendel 1993; Soltis et al. 1993; Hegde et al. 2006), and even in the existing floras, the occurrence of hybridization or introgression is reported to be widespread (Stace 1987; Rieseberg and Wendel 1993; Preston et al. 2002). It has been a common practice by plant breeders to artificially introgress traits from wild relatives into crop plants to develop new cultivars. However, gene flow from crops to wild relatives is also thought of as having a potential to enhance the weediness of wild relatives, as observed in rice, sorghum, sunflower and few other crops (Ellstrand et al. 1999).

APHIS considers two primary issues when assessing weediness of sexually compatible plants because of transgene flow: 1) the potential for gene flow and introgression and, 2) the potential impact of introgression.

Potential for gene flow, hybridization and gene introgression

Canola is predominantly self-pollinating, but outcrossing does occur via wind and insect pollination (Williams 1984; Williams et al. 1987). Depending on the size of the crop and distance between plants or fields, a variety of outcrossing rates were observed for canola (Beckie et al. 2003). Most outcrossing between fields generally occurs within the first 10-20 m of the recipient field, and rates decline with distance (Beckie et al. 2003; OGTR 2011). Nuseed provided a summary of crop and wild relative species of canola on the basis of overlapping geographic ranges with canola production and reports of successful hybridization (by hand pollination or in the field) with *B. napus* and the likelihood of hybridizations with canola based on information on the success rate of hand pollinations or spontaneous and natural hybridization, weediness, and presence of the species in winter or spring canola growing areas (Nuseed 2017, pp. 138-139; Pioneer 2011).

In the United States, spring canola is grown over the summer in North Dakota and neighboring states; winter canola is grown in the Pacific Northwest, the Great Plains and northern Georgia (Brown et al. 2008). In southern Georgia, spring canola is grown over the winter (Buntin et al. 2013). Brassica crops involve a number of diploid and polyploidy species (Nagaharu 1935; Myers 2006) and the family Brassicaceae involves a number of major weed species (OECD 2012).

In a majority of crop species, gene flow is idiosyncratic depending upon biology and ecology of both crop and sexually compatible relatives (Ingram 2000; Warwick et al. 2009a). Accordingly, there are several important considerations for a successful gene flow and introgression between DHA canola and sexually compatible relatives such as spatial proximity, overlapping phenology, F1 hybrid fertility, self-sustaining reproductively fertile hybrid derived (backcrossed) populations, and neutral or beneficial introgressed genes (Devos et al. 2009).

Genus *Brassica* and related genus *Raphanus* contain oil seed, vegetable, and forage crop species (Ellstrand 2003; FitzJohn et al. 2007; Pioneer 2011) such as *B. napus* (oil seed, swede) and *B. rapa* (oilseed, turnip and Chinese cabbage), *B. oleraceae* (cauliflower, cabbage, broccoli), *B. juncea* (Indian mustard), and *R. sativus* (radish). Three *Brassica* species and one species in the related genus *Sinapis* are 'mustards': *B. carinata* (Ethiopian mustard), *B. juncea* (Indian mustard), *B. nigra* (black mustard) and *Sinapis alba* (white mustard). Cultivation of *B.carinata* as an oilseed and vegetable crop is largely restricted to Ethiopia and India (Hemingway 1995; Stewart 2002). Some forms of *B. napus*, *B. oleracea*, *B. rapa* and *R. sativus* are also grown as fodder crops (FitzJohn et al. 2007).

The three *Brassica* species forming the foundation of the Triangle of U showing genome relationships among cultivated Brassicaceae are *B. rapa, B.nigra,* and *B. oleracea* (*Nagaharu 1935*). Several sexually compatible Brassica spp., including *B. napus* share components of their genomes (OECD 2012). The three species grown as canola (*B. napus, B. juncea* and *B. rapa*) all share the A genome: *B. napus* is the AACC tetraploid; *B. juncea* is the AABB tetraploid and *B. rapa* is the AA diploid. Introgression between species is much more likely when they have one of the three genomes in common. Additionally, there is potential for gene flow from *B. napus* to *B. rapa* and *B. juncea* and

thereby to the species with which they are sexually compatible. The A genome is common to the three major oilseed *Brassica* species, explaining the success of interspecific crossing, and the ability to transfer genes among these species. However, (Scott and Wilkinson 1998) reported low rates of hybridization between *B. napus* and *B. rapa. Brassica napus* and *B. juncea* also share a common set of chromosomes, enhancing the likelihood of interspecific hybridization and gene flow (Myers 2006).

The Brassicaceae family contains a number of major weeds, including those in the genera Sinapis, Capsella, Thlaspi, Erucastrium, Raphanus, and others (OECD 2012). Concerns have been raised about the potential for the transfer of transgenes from the cultivated oilseed Brassica species to their weedy relatives in Europe and North America where Brassica crop species are widely grown. These Brassica crop species can also outcross, albeit rarely, with a wide range of wild and weedy species (summarized in OGTR 2002). Some Brassica crops and their wild relatives will hybridize only under artificial conditions in laboratories or highly contrived field conditions; whereas others will hybridize at very low rates under natural conditions (Raybould 1999; Barton and Dracup 2000; Warwick et al. 2009b). Through an extensive literature survey, Warwick and colleagues compiled an exhaustive list of interspecific and intergeneric hybridization among the members of the tribe Brassiceae, including large-scale artificial intergeneric hybridizations between various members of the tribe (Warwick et al. 2009b) reported very few natural hybrids. As noted earlier, several reproductive and ecological barriers between canola and its wild species prevent formation of successful introgressed, selfsustaining hybrid derived populations.

Feral canola is a common occurrence along canola field edges and transportation routes (Bagavathiannan and Van Acker 2008; Devos et al. 2012). Ecologically B. napus is described as a cultivated crop where escaped plants become colonizers of waste places. However, they are not invasive of natural habitats (OECD 2012). Where B. napus is found outside of agriculture, it is almost universally considered a casual escape (Hall et al. 2005; OGTR 2011; OECD 2012). In the United Kingdom, (Crawley and Brown 1995) found that along undisturbed roadways the persistence of *B. napus* is about 3 to 4 years and that the density of such feral populations is correlated with human activities (OECD 2012). Unless the habitats are disturbed on a regular basis, B. napus will be displaced (OECD 2012). In Canada, anecdotal evidence suggests that B. napus populations can occur where seed has been spilled, but these populations are short-lived and not invasive (Hall et al. 2005). Similarly, (Schafer et al. 2011) has documented escaped canola populations growing along numerous roadways in ND, and (Munier et al. 2012) noted similar roadside populations in CA. In general, these populations are considered casual rather than feral, dying out in 2-4 years unless reseeded by agricultural activity (Crawley and Brown 1995; Hall et al. 2005). Gulden et al. (Gulden et al. 2008), in a review of the weediness of both B. napus and B. rapa, notes that while both species occur in disturbed areas, only *B. rapa* produces naturalized, self-sustaining feral populations.

No literature was encountered that suggested that these roadside populations are capable of persistence without continuous reseeding from human activity. Similarly, no literature was encountered that suggested that *B. napus* is invasive or capable of colonizing natural

habitats, and extensive literature can be found supporting the view that *B. napus* is not invasive of natural habitats (OGTR 2011; CFIA 2012; OECD 2012).

Potential for enhanced weediness of recipients after gene flow and/or introgression Gene flow from DHA canola was evaluated thoroughly with respect to plant pest risk. The introduced genetic material in DHA canola is not expected to change the ability of the plant to interbreed with other plant species. Furthermore, APHIS evaluation of data provided by Nuseed (2017) of agronomic and phenotypic properties of DHA canola, including those characteristics associated with reproductive biology, indicated no unintended changes likely to affect the potential for gene flow from DHA canola to sexually compatible species. It is highly unlikely that canola plants in the United States will be found outside of an agricultural setting, except along roadsides and seed transportation routes. It is also highly unlikely that gene flow and introgression will occur between DHA canola plants and wild or weedy species in a natural environment. Thus, APHIS has determined that any adverse consequences of gene flow from DHA canola to wild or weedy species in the United States are highly unlikely.

Based on the information presented in the petition and in relevant literature, APHIS has reached the following conclusions. The genetic modification in DHA canola is not expected to increase the potential for gene flow, hybridization and/or introgression to occur to sexually compatible taxa compared to the nontransgenic recipient or other varieties of the crop commonly grown. Gene flow, hybridization and/or introgression of genes from DHA canola to other sexually compatible relatives, including wild, weedy, feral or cultivated species in the U.S. and its territories is not likely to occur. Therefore, DHA canola is not expected to increase the weed risk potential of other species with which it can interbreed in the U.S. and its territories.

H. Potential Changes to Agriculture or Cultivation Practices

APHIS considered whether there are likely to be significant changes to agricultural practices associated with cultivation of DHA canola, and if so are they likely to significantly exacerbate plant diseases or pests, especially those for which APHIS has a control program.

As discussed throughout this document, DHA canola is similar to conventional canola in its agronomic, phenotypic, ecological and compositional characteristics and has levels of tolerance to insects and diseases comparable to conventional canola varieties. Furthermore, many similarities in agronomic practices of canola production exist between North America (USA and Canada) and Australia, including weed, insect and disease control practices. Therefore, no significant impacts on current cultivation and management practices for canola are expected following the introduction of DHA canola.

I. Potential Impacts from Transfer of Genetic Information to Organisms with which DHA Canola Cannot Interbreed

APHIS examined the potential for the new genetic material inserted into DHA canola to be horizontally transferred without sexual reproduction to other organisms and whether such an event could lead directly or indirectly to disease, damage, injury or harm to plants, including the creation of new or more virulent pests, pathogens, or parasitic plants. The horizontal gene transfer (HGT) between unrelated organisms is one of the most intensively studied fields in the biosciences since the late 1940s (Soucy et al. 2015), and the issue gained extra attention with the release of transgenic plants into the environment (Droge et al. 1998). Keese (Keese 2008) reviewed potential risks from stable HGT from genetically engineered organisms to another organism without reproduction or human intervention. Mechanisms of HGT include conjugation, transformation and transduction, and other diverse mechanisms of DNA and RNA uptake and recombination and rearrangement, most notably through viruses and mobile genetic elements (Keese 2008; Soucy et al. 2015). HGT has been a major contributor to the spread of antibiotic resistance amongst pathogenic bacteria; emergence of increased virulence in bacteria, eukaryotes and viruses; and, in the long run, to major transitions in evolution (Keese 2008).

Potential for horizontal gene transfer to bacteria, fungi, or invertebrates

DHA canola contains genetic elements from bacteria, i.e. the *pat* gene from *S*. *viridochromogenes* and non-coding regulatory sequences from *A. tumefaciens*. Horizontal gene transfer and expression of DNA from a plant species to bacterial, fungal or invertebrate species is unlikely to occur based on the following observations. Although there are many opportunities for plants to directly interact with fungi and bacteria (e.g. as commensals, symbionts, parasites, pathogens, decomposers, or in the guts of herbivores) and with invertebrates as plant pests, there are almost no evolutionary examples of HGT from eukaryotes to bacteria or from plants to fungi or invertebrates (van den Eede et al. 2004; Keeling and Palmer 2008; Keese 2008). Examples of HGT between eukaryotes and fungi primarily involve gene acquisition or transfer by fungi to or from other distantly related fungi or bacteria (Keeling and Palmer 2008; Keese 2008). Examples of HGT between plants and fungi is extremely rare (Richards et al. 2009). Examples of HGT in insects involve acquisition of genes from their pathogens or endosymbionts (Keese 2008; Zhu et al. 2011; Acuna et al. 2012).

Horizontal transfer from and expression in bacteria of the foreign DNA inserted into the nuclear genome of the GE plant is unlikely to occur. First, many genomes (or parts thereof) have been sequenced from bacteria that are closely associated with plants including *Agrobacterium* and *Rhizobium* (Wood et al. 2001; Kaneko et al. 2002). There is no evidence that these organisms contain genes derived from plants. HGT from plants to bacteria is a very low frequency event, primarily because functional and selective barriers to HGT increase with genetic distance (Keeling and Palmer 2008; Keese 2008). Second, in cases where review of sequence data implied that horizontal gene transfer occurred, these events are inferred to occur on an evolutionary time scale on

the order of millions of years (Koonin et al. 2001; Brown 2003; EFSA 2009). Third, transgene DNA promoters and coding sequences are optimized for plant expression, not prokaryotic bacterial expression. Thus even if horizontal gene transfer occurred, proteins corresponding to the transgenes are not likely to be produced. Fourth, both the FDA (FDA 1998) and the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA 2009) have evaluated horizontal gene transfer from the use of antibiotic resistance marker genes and concluded that the likelihood of transfer of antibiotic resistance genes from plant genomes to microorganisms in the gastrointestinal tract of humans or animals, or in the environment, is very rare or remote.

Potential for horizontal gene transfer to viruses

DHA canola contains non-coding regulatory sequences from tobacco mosaic virus and cauliflower mosaic virus. APHIS also considered whether horizontal transfer of DNA from the GE plant to plant viruses was likely to occur and would lead to the creation or selection of plant viruses that are more virulent or have a broader host range. This issue has been considered before by other science review panels and government regulatory bodies (EPA-FIFRA-SAP 2006; Keese 2008). HGT is not unusual among plant viruses; however this is generally limited to exchange between viruses present in the same host organism in mixed infections, and most commonly involves homologous recombination, relying on sequence similarity at the point of crossover (Keese 2008). HGT from virus sequences engineered into plants has been demonstrated with infecting or challenge viruses, including both DNA viruses (e.g. geminiviruses which replicate in the nucleus) (Frischmuth and Stanley 1998) and RNA viruses which typically replicate in the cytoplasm; however most have been under conditions that favor recombination to restore a defective virus (Fuchs and Gonsalves 2007; Keese 2008; Thompson and Tepfer 2010). Populations of recombinants between virus transgenes expressed in transgenic plants and infected related viruses are similar to recombinants found in mixed infections of the same viruses in nontransgenic plants, indicating that there was no novel recombination mechanism in the transgenic plants and no increased risk is expected over what is expected from mixed infections (Keese 2008; Turturo et al. 2008). Nonhomologous recombination in HGT among viruses or between virus transgenes and infecting viruses can occur, but frequently results in gene deletions which can result in nonviable viruses (Morroni et al. 2013). Depending on the particular virus and sequences involved, various hot-spots for recombination have been found in both coding and noncoding regions, and strategies implemented in design of transgenes to avoid recombination have been suggested. No recombinant or undesirable viruses with new properties have been detected for over at least 8-10 years in field tests or during commercial growth of deregulated virus resistant plum, squash, or papaya engineered with genes from viruses that have been deregulated in the U.S. (Fuchs and Gonsalves 2007). Furthermore, all plant virus-derived sequences present in DHA canola are non-coding, regulatory sequences of known function.

Potential for horizontal gene transfer to parasitic plants

Evidence for HGT from plants to other plants is limited to two specific scenarios: (1) exchange of genes between a parasitic plant and its host; and (2) exchange of genes between cells of two plants living in close proximity, such as in a graft junction. In both

cases, this type of HGT requires physical contacts between the two plants. Most cases of HGT in plants involve transfer of mitochondrial genomes, which are primarily maternally inherited in plants (Barr et al. 2005), to other mitochondria genomes, and mostly involve parasitic plants and their hosts (Richardson and Palmer 2007). A comparative genomics analysis implicated HGT for the incorporation of a specific genetic sequence in the parasitic plant purple witchweed (Striga hermonthica) from its monocot host plant (Yoshida et al. 2010). According to this study, the incorporation of the specific genetic sequence (with an unknown function) occurred between sorghum and purple witchweed. However, this HGT occurred before speciation of purple witchweed and related cowpea witchweed (S. gesnerioides) from their common ancestor. Furthermore, S. hermonthica is not found in the U.S. and S. asiatica, another related parasite of cereal crops, is only present in North Carolina and South Carolina (USDA-NRCS 2018). More recent studies demonstrated that in a few parasitic species of the Rafflesiaceae family, out of several genetic sequences examined, about 2.1% of nuclear (Xi et al. 2012) and 24 - 41% of mitochondrial (Xi et al. 2013) gene transcripts appeared to be acquired from their obligate host species. However, all the above-mentioned instances of HGT between parasitic plants and their hosts were reported to be of ancient origins, on an evolutionary time scale spanning thousands to millions of years ago. Furthermore in DHA canola, the DNA sequences were inserted into the nuclear genome, not the mitochondrial genome (Nuseed 2017).

If DHA canola becomes infected by a parasitic plant or is naturally grafted to another plant, there is a very low probability that HGT could result in the other plant acquiring DNA from DHA canola. However, in both scenarios this newly introduced DNA would likely reside in somatic cells, and with little chance of reaching the germ cells, this introduced DNA could not persist in subsequent generations unless the recipient plant reproduced asexually from the affected cells.

Based on the above analysis APHIS therefore concludes that HGT of the new genetic material inserted into DHA canola to other organisms is highly unlikely, and is not expected to lead directly or indirectly to disease, damage, injury or harm to plants, including the creation of new or more virulent pests, pathogens, or parasitic plants.

J. Conclusion

APHIS has reviewed the information submitted in the petition, supporting documents, and other relevant information to assess the plant pest risk of DHA canola compared to the unmodified variety from which it was derived. APHIS concludes that DHA canola is unlikely to pose a greater plant pest risk than its unmodified parental variety, AV Jade, based on the following findings.

• No plant pest risk was identified from the transformation process or the insertion of new genetic material in DHA canola. Sequencing of the DHA canola lines found no evidence of the presence of *A. tumefaciens* used as the vector to transfer the genetic material. The other plant pest sequences in the inserted genetic material include leader sequences from *Tobacco mosaic virus* 59; promoter sequences from

Cauliflower mosaic virus, and terminator and T-DNA border sequences from *A. tumefaciens*. The addition of non-coding genetic material did not confer any plant pest characteristics to DHA canola.

- No increase in plant pest risk was identified in DHA canola from expression of new proteins (five desaturases, two elongases and one herbicide-resistant) from the inserted genetic material, or changes in metabolism or composition because there were no significant changes in agronomic, ecological and compositional characteristics that would render DHA canola more susceptible to pests and diseases over its parental control or reference commercial varieties.
- Disease and pest incidence and/or damage were not observed to be significantly increased or atypical in DHA canola compared to the nontransgenic parental variety or other comparators in field trials conducted in growing regions representative of where DHA canola is expected to be grown. Observed agronomic traits also did not reveal any significant differences that would indirectly indicate that the GE crop event is more susceptible to pests or diseases. Therefore no plant pest effects are expected on these or other agricultural products and no impacts are expected to APHIS pest control programs.
- Exposure to and/or consumption of DHA canola are unlikely to have any adverse impacts on organisms beneficial to agriculture based on the analysis of compositional, and phenotypic data.
- DHA canola is no more likely to become a weed than conventional canola varieties based on its observed agronomic characteristics, weediness potential and the current management practices available to control DHA canola as a weed.
- DHA canola is not expected to increase the weed risk potential of other species with which it can interbreed in the U.S. or its territories. Furthermore, there are no meaningful observed differences in traits between DHA canola and control canola that would (i) enhance weediness in canola, or (ii) enhance its gene flow potential to sexually compatible relatives and consequently increase weedy characteristics in sexually compatible relatives.
- Significant changes to agricultural or cultivation practices (e.g. pesticide applications, tillage, irrigation, harvesting, etc.) from adoption of DHA canola were not identified.
- Horizontal gene transfer of the new genetic material inserted into DHA canola to other organisms is highly unlikely, and is not expected to lead directly or indirectly to disease, damage, injury or harm to plants, including the creation of new or more virulent pests, pathogens, or parasitic plants.

K. References

- 7 CFR part 340. 2015 Edition. Introduction of Organisms and Products Altered or Produced Through Genetic Engineering Which Are Plant Pests or Which There Is Reason To Believe Are Plant Pests. Retrieved from <u>https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/CFR-2015-title7-vol5/pdf/CFR-2015-title7-vol5/pdf/CFR-2015-title7-vol5-part340.pdf</u>
- 7 USC 7701 *et seq.* 2014 Edition. *Plant Protection Act.* Retrieved from <u>https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/USCODE-2014-title7/pdf/USCODE-2014-title7-chap104.pdf</u>
- 40 CFR part 152. 2015 Edition. *Pesticide Registration and Classification Procedures*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/CFR-2015-title40-</u>vol24/pdf/CFR-2015-title40-vol24-part152.pdf
- 40 CFR part 158. 2015 Edition. *Data Requirements for Pesticides*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/CFR-2015-title40-vol24/pdf/CFR-2015-title40-vol24-part158.pdf</u>
- 40 CFR part 172. 2015 Edition. *Experimental Use Permits*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/CFR-2015-title40-vol24/pdf/CFR-2015-title40-vol24-part172.pdf</u>
- 51 FR 23302. 1986. Coordinated Framework for Regulation of Biotechnology.
- 57 FR 22984. 1992a. Statement of Policy: Foods Derived from New Plant Varieties.
- 57 FR 22984. 1992b. Statement of Policy Foods Derived from New Plant Varieties. Retrieved

from http://www.fda.gov/Food/GuidanceRegulation/GuidanceDocumentsRegulat oryInformation/Biotechnology/ucm096095.htm

- Abedi E and Sahari MA. 2014. Long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acid sources and evaluation of their nutritional and functional properties. Food Science and Nutrition 2, pp. 443-463. Retrieved from http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/fsn3.121/pdf
- Acuna R, Padilla BE, Florez-Ramos CP, Rubio JD, Herrera JC, Benavides P, Lee SJ, Yeats TH, Egan AN, Doyle JJ, and Rose JK. 2012. Adaptive horizontal transfer of a bacterial gene to an invasive insect pest of coffee. PNAS 109, pp. 4197-4202. Retrieved

from http://www.pnas.org/content/early/2012/02/17/1121190109.abstract

- APS. 2001. Diseases of Rapeseed = Canola (B.napus L. and Brassica rapa L. (= B. campestris L.). Retrieved from <u>www.apsnet.org/publications/commonnames/Pages/Rapeseed.aspx</u> Last accessed 1/30/2018.
- Ash G. 2010. *Blackleg of oilseed rape*. American Phytopathological Society. Retrieved from

https://www.apsnet.org/edcenter/intropp/lessons/fungi/ascomycetes/Pages/Blackle g.aspx Last accessed 1/3/2018.

- Bagavathiannan MV and Van Acker RC. 2008. Crop ferality: implications for novel trait confinement. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 127, pp. 1-6.
- Baker HG. 1965. *Charasteristics and modes of origin of weeds*. . London: Academic Press.

- Barr CM, Neiman M, and Taylor DR. 2005. Inheritance and recombination of mitochondrial genomes in plants, fungi and animals. New Phytologist 168, pp. 39-50; DOI: 10.1111/j.1469-8137.2005.01492.x. Retrieved from <u>http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2005.01492.x/pdf</u> Last accessed Aug 2014.
- Barton JE and Dracup M. 2000. *Genetically modified crops and the environment*. Agronomy Journal 92, pp. 797-803.
- Beckie H, Warwick S, Nair H, and Séguin-Swartz G. 2003. *Gene flow in commercial fields of herbicide-resistant canola (Brassica napus)*. Ecological applications 13, pp. 1276-1294.
- Belide S, Zhou X, Kennedy Y, Lester G, Shrestha P, Petrie J, and Singh S. 2013. Rapid expression and validation of seed-specific constructs in transgenic LEC2 induced somatic embryos of Brassica napus. Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture (PCTOC) 113, pp. 543-553.
- Bhalla PL and Singh MB. 2008. Agrobacterium-mediated transformation of Brassica napus and Brassica oleracea. Nature protocols 3, pp. 181-189. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18274519
- Brown J, Erickson D, Davis J, and Brown A. 1995. Effects of swathing on yield and quality of spring canola (Brassica napus L.) in the pacific North West.
 Proceedings of the 9th International Rapeseed Congress; Cambridge, UK 1, pp. 339-341.
- Brown J, Davis JB, Lauver M, and Wysocki D. 2008. U.S. Canola Association Canola Growers' Manual. University of Idaho & Oregon State University. Retrieved from http://www.uscanola.com/site/epage/102387_956.htm
- Brown JR. 2003. Ancient horizontal gene transfer. Nature Reviews Genetics 4, pp. 121-132; doi:110.1038/nrg1000. Retrieved from <u>http://www.nature.com/nrg/journal/v4/n2/full/nrg1000.html</u> Last accessed Aug 2014.
- Buntin D, Grey T, Harris G, Phillips D, Buck J, Prostko E, Raymer P, Smith N, Summer P, and Woodruff J. 2013. *Canola Production in Georgia*.
- Canola Council of Canada. 2018a. *What is Canola?* Canola Council of Canada. Retrieved from <u>https://www.canolacouncil.org/oil-and-meal/what-is-canola/</u>
- Canola Council of Canada. 2018b. *Blackleg.ca*. Canola Council of Canada. Retrieved from <u>https://www.canolacouncil.org/canola-encyclopedia/diseases/blackleg/</u>
- CFIA. 2012. *The Biology of Brassca napus L. (Canola/Rapeseed)*. Retrieved from <u>http://www.inspection.gc.ca/plants/plants-with-novel-</u> <u>traits/applicants/directive-94-08/biology-documents/brassica-napus-l-</u> /eng/1330729090093/1330729278970 Last accessed 12/26/2017.
- CODEX. 2003. Codex Alimentarius Commission, Foods Derived from Biotechnology, 2nd Edition. Rome.
- Cook SM, Awmack CS, Murray DA, and Williams IH. 2003. *Are honey bees' foraging preferences affected by pollen amino acid composition?* Ecological Entomology 28, pp. 622-627.
- Crawley M, Hails R, Rees M, Kohn D, and Buxton J. 1993. *Ecology of transgenic oilseed rape in natural habitats*. Nature 363, pp. 620-623.

- Crawley M, Brown S, Hails R, Kohn D, and Rees M. 2001. *Biotechnology: Transgenic crops in natural habitats*. Nature 409, pp. 682-683.
- Crawley MJ and Brown SL. 1995. Seed limitation and the dynamics of feral oilseed rape on the M25 motorway. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 259, pp. 6. Retrieved

from http://rspb.royalsocietypublishing.org/content/259/1354/49.abstract

- D'Hertefeldt T, Jørgensen RB, and Pettersson LB. 2008. Long-term persistence of GM oilseed rape in the seedbank. Biology Letters 4, pp. 314-317.
- Devos Y, De Schrijver A, and Reheul D. 2009. *Quantifying the introgressive hybridisation propensity between transgenic oilseed rape and its wild/weedy relatives*. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment 149, pp. 303-322.
- Devos Y, Hails RS, Messean A, Perry JN, and Squire GR. 2012. Feral genetically modified herbicide tolerant oilseed rape from seed import spills: are concerns scientifically justified? Transgenic Res 21, pp. 1-21. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21526422
- Droge M, Puhler A, and Selbitschka W. 1998. *Horizontal gene transfer as a biosafety issue: A natural phenomenon of public concern.* Journal of Biotechnology 64, pp. 75-90.
- Dröge W, Broer I, and Pühler A. 1992. Transgenic plants containing the phosphinothricin-N-acetyltransferase gene metabolize the herbicide Lphosphinothricin (glufosinate) differently from untransformed plants. Planta 187, pp. 142-151.
- Durrett TP, Benning C, and Ohlrogge J. 2008. *Plant triacylglycerols as feedstocks for the production of biofuels*. The Plant journal : for cell and molecular biology 54, pp. 593-607. Retrieved from <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18476866</u>
- EFSA. 2009. Consolidated presentation of the joint Scientific Opinion of the GMO and BIOHAZ Panels on the "Use of Antibiotic Resistance Genes as Marker Genes in Genetically Modified Plants" and the Scientific Opinion of the GMO Panel on "Consequences of the Opinion on the Use of Antibiotic Resistance Genes as Marker Genes in Genetically Modified Plants on Previous EFSA Assessments of Individual GM Plants. The European Food Safety Authority Journal 7, pp. 1-107. Retrieved from <u>http://www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/doc/1108.pdf</u> Last accessed Aug 2014.
- Ellstrand NC. 2003. Dangerous liaisons? When Cultivated Plants Mate with Their Wild Relatives. JHU Press.
- Ellstrand NC, Prentice HC, and Hancock JF. 1999. *Gene flow and introgression from domesticated plants into their wild relatives*. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst 30, pp. 539-563.
- EPA-FIFRA-SAP. 2006. Plant Incorporated Protectants Based on Virus Coat Protein Genes: Science Issues Associated with the Proposed Rule. Retrieved from <u>https://archive.epa.gov/scipoly/sap/meetings/web/pdf/minutes1205.pdf</u> Last accessed 09/28/2017.
- FARRP. 2016. AllergenOnline: *AllergenOnline*. Retrieved from http://www.allergenonline.org/
- FDA. 1998. *Draft Guidance: Use of antibiotic resistance marker genes in plants.* U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Retrieved

from http://www.fda.gov/Food/GuidanceCompliance%20RegulatoryInformation/ GuidanceDocuments/Biotechnology/ucm096135.htm

- FDA. 2006. Guidance for Industry: Recommendations for the Early Food Safety Evaluation of New Non-Pesticidal Proteins Produced by New Plant Varieties Intended for Food Use. U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Retrieved from http://www.fda.gov/Food/GuidanceComplianceRegulatoryInformation/Guid anceDocuments/Biotechnology/ucm096156.htm
- FDA. 2017. Agency Response Letter BNF 000148. Retrieved from https://www.fda.gov/Food/IngredientsPackagingLabeling/GEPlants/Submissions/ ucm493262.htm
- FitzJohn RG, Armstrong TT, Newstrom-Lloyd LE, Wilton AD, and Cochrane M. 2007. *Hybridisation within Brassica and allied genera: evaluation of potential for transgene escape*. Euphytica 158, pp. 209-230.
- Frischmuth T and Stanley J. 1998. Recombination between viral DNA and the transgenic coat protein gene of African cassava mosaic geminivirus. Journal of General Virology 79, pp. 1265-1271. Retrieved from <u>http://vir.sgmjournals.org/content/79/5/1265.full.pdf+html</u> Last accessed Aug 2014.
- Fuchs M and Gonsalves D. 2007. Safety of virus-resistant transgenic plants two decades after their introduction: Lessons from realistic field risk assessment studies. Annual Review of Phytopathology 45:, pp. 173-202; doi:110.1146/annurev.phyto.1145.062806.094434. Retrieved from http://www.annualreviews.org/doi/full/10.1146/annurev.phyto.45.062806.09 4434?url_ver=Z39.88-2003 Last accessed Aug 2014.
- Gan Y, Malhi S, Brandt S, and McDonald C. 2008. *Assessment of seed shattering resistance and yield loss in five oilseed crops*. Canadian Journal of plant science 88, pp. 267-270.
- George N, Hollingsworth J, and Kaffka S. 2015. *A guide for canola and camelina research in California*. Davis, California. University of California, Davis. Retrieved from <u>http://oilseeds.ucdavis.edu//files/211685.pdf</u>
- Gilmour AR, Gogel BJ, Cullis BR, and Thompson R. 2009. *ASReml User Guide*. Biometrics Program of NSW Department of Primary Industries and the Biomathematics Unit of Rothamsted Research.
- Grant V. 1981. *Plant Speciation, 2nd Edition*. New York: Columbia University Press, 563 pp.
- Gulden RH, Shirtliffe SJ, and Thomas GA. 2003. Secondary seed dormancy prolongs persistence of volunteer canola in western Canada. Weed Science 51, pp. 904-913. Retrieved from <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/4046744?origin=JSTOR-</u> pdf&seq=1#page_scan_tab_contents Last accessed 02/08/2010.
- Gulden RH, Warwick SI, and Thomas AG. 2008. The Biology of Canadian Weeds. 137. Brassica napus L. and B. rapa L. Canadian Journal of Plant Science 88, pp. 951-996. Retrieved from http://www.nrcresearchpress.com/doi/abs/10.4141/CJPS07203#.V5Igo_5f0a
 - \underline{I} Last accessed 12/30/15.
- Hall G, Allen GC, Loer DS, Thompson WF, and Spiker S. 1991. *Nuclear scaffolds and scaffold-attachment regions in higher plants*. PNAS 88, pp. 9320-9324.

- Hall LM, Rahman HM, Gulden RH, and Thomas GA. 2005. Volunteer Oilseed Rape Will Herbicide-Resistance Traits Assist Ferality? In: *Crop Ferality and Volunteerism* (Taylor & Francis Group, LLC), pp. 59-80. Retrieved from <u>http://www.crcnetbase.com/doi/book/10.1201/9781420037999</u> Last accessed 13:39 13 January 2016.
- Halweg C, Thompson WF, and Spiker S. 2005. *The rb7 matrix attachment region increases the likelihood and magnitude of transgene expression in tobacco cells: a flow cytometric study*. Plant Cell 17, pp. 418-429. Retrieved from <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15659622</u>
- Hegde SG, Nason JD, Clegg JM, and Ellstrand NC. 2006. The evolution of California's wild radish has resulted in the extinction of its progenitors. Evolution 60, pp. 1187-1197. Retrieved from <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1554/05-634.1</u> Last accessed Dec 2014.
- Hemingway J. 1995. *Mustards: Brassica spp. and Sinapis alba (Cruciferae)*. Evolution of Crop Plants. NW Simmonds, ed, pp. 82-86.
- Ingram J. 2000. Report on the separation distances required to ensure cross-pollination is below specified limits in non-seed crops of sugar beet, maize and oilseed rape. . National Institute of Agricultural Botany MAFF Project No. RG0123.
- Kaneko T, Nakamura Y, Sato S, Minamisawa K, Uchiumi T, Sasamoto S, Watanabe A, Idesawa K, Iriguchi M, Kawashima K, Kohara M, Matsumoto M, Shimpo S, Tsuruoka H, Wada T, Yamada M, and Tabata S. 2002. *Complete genomic sequence of nitrogen-fixing symbiotic bacterium Bradyrhizobium japonicum USDA110*. DNA Research 9, pp. 189–197. Retrieved from http://dnaresearch.oxfordjournals.org/content/9/6/189.long Last accessed Aug 2014.
- Keeling PJ and Palmer JD. 2008. Horizontal gene transfer in eukaryotic evolution. Nature Reviews Genetics 9, pp. 605-618; doi:610.1038/nrg2386. Retrieved from <u>http://www.nature.com/nrg/journal/v9/n8/full/nrg2386.html</u> Last accessed Aug 2014.
- Keese P. 2008. *Risks from GMOs due to horizontal gene transfer*. Environmental Biosafety Research 7, pp. 123-149; DOI: 110.1051/ebr:2008014. Retrieved from <u>http://journals.cambridge.org/action/displayAbstract?fromPage=online&aid</u> =8208895&fileId=S1635792208000146 Last accessed Dec 2014.
- Keller I, Fluri P, and Imdorf A. 2005. *Pollen nutrition and colony development in honey bees: part 1.* Bee World 86, pp. 3-10.
- Koonin EV, Makarova KS, and Aravind L. 2001. *Horizonal gene transfer in prokaryotes: Quantification and classification*. Annual Review of Microbiology 55:, pp. 709-742. Retrieved from <u>http://www.annualreviews.org/doi/full/10.1146/annurev.micro.55.1.709?url</u>ver=Z39.88-2003 Last accessed Aug 2014.
- Lamb RJ. 1989. *Entomology of oilseed Brassica crops*. Annu Rev Entomol 34, pp. 211-229.
- Légère A, Simard M, Thomas A, Pageau D, Lajeunesse J, Warwick S, and Derksen D. 2001. *Presence and persistence of volunteer canola in Canadian cropping systems*.

Madsen SB. 1962 *Germination of buried and dry stored seeds*. *III*. 1934-1960. Proceedings of the International Seed Testing Association 27, pp. 920-928.

- Morroni M, Jacquemond M, and Tepfer M. 2013. *Deep sequencing of recombinant virus populations in transgenic and nontransgenic plants infected with Cucumber mosaic virus*. Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions 26, pp. 801-811. Retrieved from <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1094/MPMI-02-13-0057-R</u> Last accessed Aug 2014.
- Munier DJ, Brittan KL, and Lanini WT. 2012. *Seed bank persistence of genetically modified canola in California*. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int 19, pp. 2281-2284. Retrieved from <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22258428</u>
- Myers JR. 2006. Outcrossing potential for Brassica species and implications for vegetable crucifer seed crops of growing oilseed Brassicas in the Willamette Valley (Special Report 1064.).
- Nagaharu U. 1935. Genome analysis in Brassica with special reference to the experimental formation of B. napus and peculiar mode of fertilization. Jap J Bot 7, pp. 389-452.
- Nuseed Americas Inc. 2017. *Petition for the Determination of Nonregulated Status for DHA Canola*. Submitted by M. Connelly, Regulatory and Compliance Manager, Americas. Nuseed Americas Inc. Alsip, IL.
- Nuseed Americas Inc. 2018. Supplemental Information to USDA APHIS BRS in support of Petition 17-236-01p for Determination of Nonregulated Status for DHA Canola. Submitted by M. Connelly, Regulatory and Compliance Manager, Americas. Nuseed Americas Inc. Alsip, IL.
- OECD. 2011. Revised Consensus document on Compositional Considerations for New Varieties of LOW ERUCIC ACID RAPESEED (Canola): Key Food and Feed Nutrients, Anti-nutrients and toxicants Paris, France. Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. Retrieved from https://www.oecd.org/env/ehs/biotrack/49343153.pdf
- OECD. 2012. Consensus Document on the Biology of the Brassica Crops (Brassica spp.). OECD. Retrieved from <u>http://www.oecd.org/officialdocuments/publicdisplaydocumentpdf/?cote=en</u> v/im/mono(2012)41&doclanguage=en
- OGTR. 2011. *The Biology of Brassica napus L. (canola)*. Office of the Gene Technology Regulator Retrieved from <u>http://www.ogtr.gov.au/internet/ogtr/publishing.nsf/content/canola-</u> 3/\$FILE/biologycanola08 2.pdf
- Oplinger ES, Hardman LL, Gritton ET, Doll JD, and Kelling KA. 1989. Canola (Rapeseed). In: *Alternative Crops Manual* (University of Wisconsin-Extension, Cooperative Extension
- University of Minesota: Center for Alternative Plant & Animal products and the Minesota Extension Service). Retrieved from <u>https://www.hort.purdue.edu/newcrop/afcm/</u> Last accessed 12/3/2015.
- Pekrun C, Lutman P, and Baeumer K. 1997. Induction of secondary dormancy in rape seeds (Brassica napus L.) by prolonged imbibition under conditions of water stress or oxygen deficiency in darkness. European Journal of Agronomy 6, pp. 245-255.

- Perrins J, Williamson M, and Fitter A. 1992. A survey of differing views of weed classification: implications for regulation of introductions. Biological Conservation 60, pp. 47-56.
- Pessel D, Lecomte J, Emeriau V, Krouti M, Messean A, and Gouyon P. 2001. *Persistence of oilseed rape (Brassica napus L.) outside of cultivated fields.* Theoretical and Applied Genetics 102, pp. 841-846.
- Petrie JR, Shrestha P, Zhou XR, Mansour MP, and Liu Q. 2012. *Metabolic Engineering Plant Seeds with Fish Oil-Like Levels of DHA*. PLos ONE 7.
- Petrie JR, Liu Q, Mackenzie AM, Shrestha P, Mansour MP, Robert SS, Frampton DF, Blackburn SI, Nichols PD, and Singh SP. 2010. Isolation and characterisation of a high-efficiency desaturase and elongases from microalgae for transgenic LC-PUFA production. Marine biotechnology 12, pp. 430-438. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19820995
- Pioneer Hi-Bred Internationsl, Inc. 2011. *Petition for the Determination of Nonregulated Status for Herbicide-Tolerant 73496 Canola*. Submitted by N. Weber, Registration Manager. Pioneer Hi-Bred Internationsl, Inc. Johnston, IA.
- Preston C, Pearman D, and Dines T. 2002. New atlas of the British flora.
- Raybould AF. 1999. *Transgenes and agriculture–going with the flow?* Trends in plant science 4, pp. 247-248.
- Richards TA, Soanes DM, Foster PG, Leonard G, Thornton CR, and Talbot NJ. 2009. *Phylogenomic analysis demonstrates a pattern of rare and ancient horizontal gene transfer between plants and fungi*. Plant Cell 21, pp. 1897-1911. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19584142
- Richardson AO and Palmer JD. 2007. *Horizontal gene transfer in plants*. Journal of Experimental Botany 58, pp. 1-9; doi:10.1093/jxb/erl1148. Retrieved from <u>http://jxb.oxfordjournals.org/content/58/1/1.full.pdf+html</u> Last accessed Aug 2014.
- Rieseberg LH and Wendel JF. 1993. Introgression and Its Consequences in Plants.
- Roth-Maier D. 2015. *Investigations into feeding full-fat canola seed and canola meal to poultry*. Oilseeds focus 1, pp. 36-37.
- Schafer MG, Ross AA, Londo JP, Burdick CA, Lee EH, Travers SE, Van de Water PK, and Sagers CL. 2011. The establishment of genetically engineered canola populations in the U.S. PLoS One 6, pp. e25736. Retrieved from <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21998689</u>
- Scott SE and Wilkinson MJ. 1998. Transgene risk is low. Nature 393, pp. 320.
- Simard MJ, Légère A, Pageau D, Lajeunesse J, and Warwick S. 2002. The frequency and persistence of volunteer canola (Brassica napus) in Quebec cropping systems. Weed Technology 16, pp. 433-439.
- Smith M. 2017. *Canola Profile* Iowa State University. Retrieved from <u>https://www.agmrc.org/commodities-products/grains-oilseeds/canola-profile/</u>Last accessed 12/27/2017.
- Soltis DE, Soltis PS, and Rieseberg LH. 1993. Molecular data and the dynamic nature of polyploidy. Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences 12, pp. 243-273; 210.1080/07352689309701903. Retrieved from http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/07352689309701903#.Uheku <u>Rtwq-w</u> Last accessed Dec 2014.

Sosnowski MR, Scott ES, and Ramsey MD. 2004. *Infection of Australian canola cultivars (Brassica napus) by Leptosphaeria maculans is influenced by cultivar and environmental conditions*. Australasian Plant Pathology 33, pp. 401-411.

Soucy SM, Huang J, and Gogarten JP. 2015. *Horizontal gene transfer: building the web* of life. Nature reviews. Genetics 16, pp. 472-482. Retrieved from <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26184597</u>

- Stace CA. 1987. *Hybridization and the plant species*. Differential Patterns in Higher Plants, pp. 115-127.
- Stewart A. 2002. A review of Brassica species, cross-pollination and implications for pure seed production in New Zealand. Agronomy New Zealand 32, pp. 63-82.

Sutherland S. 2004. *What makes a weed a weed: life history traits of native and exotic plants in the USA*. Oecologia 141, pp. 24-39. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15300483

- Thomas D, Breve M, and Raymer P. 1991. *Influence of timing and method of harvest on rapeseed yield*. Journal of production agriculture 4, pp. 266-272.
- Thomas K, Aalbers M, Bannon GA, Bartels M, Dearman RJ, Esdaile DJ, Fu TJ, Glatt CM, Hadfield N, Hatzos C, Hefle SL, Heylings JR, Goodman RE, Henry B, Herouet C, Holsapple M, Ladics GS, Landry TD, MacIntosh SC, Rice EA, Privalle LS, Steiner HY, Teshima R, Van Ree R, Woolhiser M, and Zawodny J. 2004. A multi-laboratory evaluation of a common in vitro pepsin digestion assay protocol used in assessing the safety of novel proteins. Regulatory toxicology and pharmacology : RTP 39, pp. 87-98. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15041142

Thompson JR and Tepfer M. 2010. Assessment of the benefits and risks for engineered virus resistance. Retrieved from <u>http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0065352710760024</u> Last accessed Dec 2014.

Turturo C, Friscina A, Gaubert S, Jacquemond M, Thompson JR, and Tepfer M. 2008. *Evaluation of potential risks associated with recombination in transgenic plants expressing viral sequences*. J Gen Virol 89, pp. 327-335. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18089757

USDA-APHIS-BRS. 2018. Petitions for Determination of Nonregulated Status. Retrieved from <u>https://www.aphis.usda.gov/aphis/ourfocus/biotechnology/permits-notifications-petitions/petition-status</u>

- USDA-APHIS. 2018. *Plant Pests and Diseases Programs*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.aphis.usda.gov/aphis/ourfocus/planthealth/plant-pest-and-disease-programs/pests-and-diseases/</u>
- USDA-ERS. 2012. Canola Production. Retrieved from https://www.ers.usda.gov/topics/crops/soybeans-oil-crops/canola.aspx
- USDA-NASS. 2017. Acreage June 2017. Washington, D.C. U.S. Department of Agriculture, National Agricultural Statistics Service. Retrieved from <u>http://usda.mannlib.cornell.edu/MannUsda/viewDocumentInfo.do?documen</u> <u>tID=1000</u>

- USDA-NRCS. 2012. *Introduced, Invasive, and Noxious Plants*. United States Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service. Retrieved from <u>http://plants.usda.gov/java/noxiousDriver</u> Last accessed 1/25/2018.
- USDA-NRCS. 2018. *Striga asiatica (L.) Kuntze, Asiatic witchweed*. Retrieved from <u>http://plants.usda.gov/core/profile?symbol=STAS2</u> Last accessed 1/30/2018.
- Van De Wouw AP, Marcroft SJ, and Howlett BJ. 2016. *Blackleg disease of canola in Australia*. Crop and Pasture Science 67, pp. 273.
- van den Eede G, Aarts H, Buhk HJ, Corthier G, Flint HJ, Hammes W, Jacobsen B, Midtvedt T, van der Vossen J, von Wright A, Wackernagel W, and Wilcks A. 2004. The relevance of gene transfer to the safety of food and feed derived from genetically modified (GM) plants. Food Chem Toxicol 42, pp. 1127-1156. Retrieved from <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15123384</u>
- Vaughan JG, Phelan JR, and Denford KE. 1976. Seed studies in the Cruciferae.
- Warwick SI, Beckie HJ, and Hall LM. 2009a. *Gene flow, invasiveness, and ecological impact of genetically modified crops*. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1168, pp. 72-99.
- Warwick SI, Francis A, and Gugel RK. 2009b. *Guide to Wild Germplasm of Brassica* and Allied Crops (tribe Brassiceae, Brassicaceae) 3rd Edition. Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada.
- Weiss MJ, Knodel JJ, and Olson D. 2009. Insect pests of canola. In: *Radcliffe's IPM World Textbook* (University of Minnesota, St. Paul, Minnesota), pp. 1-17.
- Williams IH. 1984. *The concentrations of air-borne rape pollen over a crop of oil-seed rape (Brassica napus L.)*. The Journal of Agricultural Science 103, pp. 353-357.
- Williams IH, Martin A, and White R. 1987. *The effect of insect pollination on plant development and seed production in winter oil-seed rape (Brassica napus L.).* The Journal of Agricultural Science 109, pp. 135-139.
- Wood DW, Setubal JC, Kaul R, Monks DE, Kitajima JP, Okura VK, Zhou Y, Chen L, Wood GE, Almeida NF, Woo L, Chen YC, Paulsen IT, Eisen JA, Karp PD, Bovee D, Chapman P, Clendenning J, Deatherage G, Gillet W, Grant C, Kutyavin T, Levy R, Li MJ, McClelland E, Palmieri A, Raymond C, Rouse G, Saenphimmachak C, Wu ZN, Romero P, Gordon D, Zhang SP, Yoo HY, Tao YM, Biddle P, Jung M, Krespan W, Perry M, Gordon-Kamm B, Liao L, Kim S, Hendrick C, Zhao ZY, Dolan M, Chumley F, Tingey SV, Tomb JF, Gordon MP, Olson MV, and Nester EW. 2001. *The genome of the natural genetic engineer Agrobacterium tumefaciens C58*. Science 294, pp. 2317-2323. Retrieved from ISI:000172817200037
- Xi Z, Wang Y, Bradley RK, Sugumaran M, Marx CJ, Rest JS, and Davis CC. 2013. Massive Mitochondrial Gene Transfer in a Parasitic Flowering Plant Clade. PLOS Genetics 9, pp. e1003265. Retrieved from <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1003265</u>
- Xi ZX, Bradley RK, Wurdack KJ, Wong KM, Sugumaran M, Bomblies K, Rest JS, and Davis CC. 2012. *Horizontal transfer of expressed genes in a parasitic flowering plant*. BMC Genomics 13, pp. 227. Retrieved from <u>http://www.biomedcentral.com/1471-2164/13/227</u>

- Yoshida S, Maruyama S, Nozaki H, and Shirasu K. 2010. Horizontal gene transfer by the parasitic plant Striga hermonthica. Science 328, pp. 1128; DOI:1110.1126/science.1187145. Retrieved from <u>http://www.sciencemag.org/content/328/5982/1128.full</u> Last accessed September 26, 2017.
- Yun MY, Xin JL, Lee SI, and Kim IH. 2018. *Rapeseed meal and canola meal can partially replace soybean meal as a protein source in finishing pigs*. Journal of Applied Animal Research 46, pp. 195-199. Retrieved from <u>https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/pdf/10.1080/09712119.2017.1284076?needAcc</u> <u>ess=true</u>
- Zhang X, Li M, Wei D, and Xing L. 2008. Identification and characterization of a novel yeast omega3-fatty acid desaturase acting on long-chain n-6 fatty acid substrates from Pichia pastoris. Yeast 25, pp. 21-27. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17914745
- Zhou XR, Robert SS, Petrie JR, Frampton DM, Mansour MP, Blackburn SI, Nichols PD, Green AG, and Singh SP. 2007. Isolation and characterization of genes from the marine microalga Pavlova salina encoding three front-end desaturases involved in docosahexaenoic acid biosynthesis. Phytochemistry 68, pp. 785-796. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17291553
- Zhu B, Lou MM, Xie GL, Zhang GQ, Zhou XP, Li B, and Jin GL. 2011. *Horizontal gene transfer in silkworm, Bombyx mori*. BMC Genomics 12, pp. 248.